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VERIFIED COMPLAINT

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT

1. This is an action for breach ofcontract and tortious interference. As set forth more fully

herein, Plaintiff Engineering Solutions & Products LLC ("ESP") and Defendant CACI

Technologies, Inc. ("CACI") entered into a subcontract pursuant to which ESP would serve as a

subcontractor to CACI with respect to performance under a prime contract between CACI and

theU.S. Army. OnJuly 18,2013, without a legally or contractually supported basis or

opportunity to cure, CACI terminated the subcontract andbegansoliciting ESP's employees.

CACI allegedly based its termination on ESP's receipt of a separate prime contract, validly

obtained through thebiddingprocess, from the U.S. Army. Sincefederal lawexpressly prohibits
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Defendant from unreasonably restricting ESP's right to contract directly with the U.S.

Government, and ESP does not need CACI's consent to act as aprime contractor to the

government under the parties' subcontract, CACI's termination is without merit.

2. CACI breached the subcontract through its improper basis for termination, for its

contractually prohibited solicitation ofESP employees, and for its failure to adhere to its agreed-

upon ten-day notice period. CACI's actions also constitute awillful and intentional tortious

interference with ESP's business relationships with its customers and employees. Bythis

Complaint, ESP seeks both monetary and non-monetary damages for harm to business and

reputation, to include immediate injunctive relief resulting from the irreparable harm to ESP.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff ESP is a Delaware limited liability company, with its principal place of business

in Eatontown, New Jersey. ESP was founded inJuly 2000 and provides engineering, technical,

and consulting services primarily to the Department ofDefense ("DoD"), and among notable

capabilities, specializes in supporting the U.S. Army's various program requirements at locations

in the United States and overseas.

4. Defendant CACI is a Virginia corporation, with its principal place ofbusiness in

Chantilly, Virginia. CACI is a government contractor that provides information solutions and

services in support ofnational security missions and government transformations for

intelligence, defense, and federal civilian clients.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Courthas subject matterjurisdictionover this matter under28 U.S.C. § 1332

becausethere is diversity of citizenship betweenthe parties and the amountin controversy

exceeds $75,000, exclusive of costs and interest.
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6. This court has personal jurisdiction over CACI as CACI is a Virginia corporation.

7. Venue is properly laid in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 as both parties do business in

this county, and CACI's principal place ofbusiness is in Arlington, VA.

BACKGROUND

The U.S. Army's S3 Contract

8. In2005, theU.S. Army solicited contract proposals from qualified bidders to source

strategic services, primarily inbusiness operations, logistics and engineering. This strategic

service sourcing contract is commonly referred to as"S3" or the "S3 Contract."

9. The S3 Contract is a vehicledesigned to award largeamounts of work to a few selected

prime contractors at once. The separate S3 prime contractors compete for specific work tobe

performed under "Task Orders" issued bythe Army, thus simplifying the procurement process,

streamlining thebidding process and reducing thenumber of prime contracts thegovernment

requires.

10. Under the S3 Contract arrangement, subcontractors providingparticular services and

supplies tothe United States are directed to contract with and work through the selected S3

prime contractors. If theprime contractor's proposal onthe subcontractors' sourced work for the

task order is accepted, theprimecontractor gains the ability to collect project management and

certain other fees for overseeing the subcontractors, in addition to the revenueearned on any

aspects of the taskorders theyundertake themselves.

Federal Prohibition on Restraining Government Procurement

11. Procurements by the Army are governed by 10 U.S.C. § 2402, et seq., which prohibits

prime contractors from unreasonably restricting theability ofsubcontractors to deal directly

with the government. Section 2402 provides in pertinent part:
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§2402. Prohibition ofcontractors limiting subcontractor sales directly to the

United States

(a) Each contract for the purchase ofsupplies or services made by the Department of

Defense shall provide thatthe contractor will not-

(1) Enter into any agreement with asubcontractor under the contract that has the

effect ofunreasonably restricting sales bythe subcontractor directly to the United States ofany

item or process (including computer software) made or furnished by the subcontractor under the

contract (or any follow-on production contract); or

(2) Otherwise act to restrict unreasonably the ability ofasubcontractor to make sales

to the United States described in clause (1).

12. Similarly, 41 U.S.C. § 4704 ("Prohibition of contractors limiting subcontractor sales

directly to Federal Government"), likewise governs CACI's prime contract, and provides in

pertinent part:

(a) Contract restrictions.-Each contract for the purchase of property orservices made

by an executive agency shall provide that thecontractor will not-

(1) enter into an agreement with a subcontractor under the contract that has the effect

of unreasonably restricting sales by the subcontractor directly to the Federal Government of any

item or process (including computer software) made or furnished bythe subcontractor under the

contract (or any follow-on production contract); or

(2) otherwise act to restrict unreasonably the ability of a subcontractor to make sales

described in paragraph (1) to the Federal Government.

CACI/ESP Teaming Agreement

13. When CACI originally sought to become a prime contractor under the S3 Contract in
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2005, it joined forces with ESP to submit its initial proposal. This allowed CACI to represent to

the government that it had ESP's technical capabilities and to rely upon ESP's good will and

reputation with the U.S. Army. In turn, this ensured ESP access to aprime contractor under the

S3 Contract for servicesit was able to market directly to the United States Army, and gave CACI

prospects of additional future business through future CACI task orders which resulted from

ESP's business development efforts.

14. To this end, prior to CACI's submission in 2005 of the proposal under which ESP would

be a subcontractor, ESP and CACI executed a TeamingAgreement, effective January 24, 2005, a

copyof whichis attached hereto as Exhibit A.

15. Consistent with the requirements of 10 U.S.C. § 2402 and 41 U.S.C. § 4704, the Teaming

Agreement specifically contemplated that the Army would still be able toobtain services directly

from ESP:

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall provideor affect [the Army's]
ability to procure directly from either Team Member its respective portion of
the Proposal.

Exhibit A, T| 1.2.

16. The Teaming Agreement, specifically recognizing that CACI and ESP could be

competitors in the future on particular task orders, limited the scope of financial information to

be provided by ESP. See ^[2.1 ("Because the Team Members may be competitors in future

proposal efforts, Subcontractor shall submit only summary cost and pricing data with the Prime

Contractor's proposal.").

17. The Teaming Agreement further stated, "In the event that the Prime Contractor is

awarded a contract, the Team Members agree to negotiate in good faith toward the execution of a

subcontract relating ... [to] that portion of the Program relating to Subcontractor's proposal...."
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Thus, under Section 8, the Teaming Agreement would terminate upon an award by CACI ofa

funded subcontract to ESP, with the contemplation that it would be replaced by a Deliver order

to the specific tasks.

CACI's S3 Contract Award and the ESP/CACI Subcontract

18. In or around early 2006, the Army accepted CACI's S3 proposal, along with the

proposals ofseveral other bidders, each of whom were awarded prime contracts under the S3

Contract.

19. As required by 10 U.S.C. § 2402, CACI's prime contract includes the following

provision preventing restriction on competition, the language ofwhich is set out in the Federal

Acquisition Regulation, 48 C.F.R. § 52.203-6:

FAR 52.203-6 Restrictions on Subcontractor Sales to the Government (JUL 1995)

(a) Except asprovided in (b) below, the Contractor shall not enter into any agreement
with anactual orprospective subcontractor, norotherwise act in any manner, which
has or may have the effect of restricting sales by such subcontractors directly to the
Government of any item orprocess (including computer software) made or furnished
bythesubcontractor under this contract or under any follow-on production contract.

(b) The prohibition in (a) above does not preclude the Contractor from asserting rights
that are otherwise authorized by law or regulation.

20. Shortly after being chosen as a prime contractor under the S3 Contract, and pursuant to

Section 8 of the Teaming Agreement, CACI tendered a subcontract to ESP in March 2006 ("the

Subcontract"). A copy of the executed Subcontract, which replaced the Teaming Agreement, is

attached hereto as Exhibit B. No work was reserved for ESP under the Subcontract. Instead,

CACI would issue a delivery order to ESP for the services ESP was to provide under a particular

task order.

21. Consistent with 10 U.S.C. § 2402, 41 U.S.C. § 4704 and 48 C.F.R. 52.203-6, nothing in

the Subcontract restricts ESP's rights to work directly with the government as a prime contractor.

6
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22. Section G.9 of the Subcontract contains a clear non-of personnel solicitation provision.

Specifically, the parties agreed that "during the term of this Subcontract and one year thereafter

neither party will solicit for hire any employee ofthe other party who is assigned to work on the

program contemplated by this subcontract without the prior written consent ofthe other party...."

Ex. Bat p. 13.

23. Furthermore, every ESP employee signs a non-competition/non-solicitation agreement

whereby the employee agree not to perform duties for a competitor ofESP, defined as those: (i)

"which are in the industry or geographic regions in which Employee performed services for ESP

in the most recent two years of his/her ESP employment and are the same or substantially similar

to the duties performed by the Employee at ESP; or (ii) which involve the use of any

Confidential Information or Innovations (as defined in the ProprietaryRights and Confidentiality

Agreement) which the Employee has received, obtained, or acquired during, or as a consequence

of, his/her employment with ESP." A true and correct copy of the Non-Competition/Non-

Solicitation Agreement is hereby attached as Exhibit C. The agreement restricts the non

competition provision to the Employee's employment and one year thereafter. Id.

Subcontract Modification

24. In August 2006, five months after the effective date of the Subcontract and prior to ESP

providing anyservices underthe Subcontract, CACI tendered a Subcontract modification to ESP,

a copy ofwhich is attached hereto as Exhibit D.

25. The modification was not accompanied or supported by any payment to ESP, any change

in position by ESP, any request for proposal on specific work, or by any consideration.

26. The modification adds to the Subcontract a new section B.4, which states:

As addressed and contained in Buyer's prior Teaming Agreement for the
Strategic Services Sourcing (S3) Program, both Parties to this subcontract
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hereby agree that [ESP] is exclusive to [CACI] and [ESP] acknowledges the
establishment of this exclusive arrangement. Specifically, [ESP] hereby agrees
notto enter into anysubcontract or other labor or ODC support arrangement for
any effort in support of any other S3 large business prime contract without first
obtaining prior written acknowledgment and consent from [CACI]. [ESP] is
free to offer and/or provide support at any time to any S3 small business prime
contractor without prior consultation with [CACI].

In addition, neither party shall, during the term of this Agreement, undertake any action

or communicate any information to any other party which might adversely affect or

impact any work effort planned, contemplated, oractually being conducted.

27. Consistent with 10 U.S.C. § 2402, 41 U.S.C. § 4704 and 48 C.F.R. 52.203-6, the

modification does not restrict ESP's rights to work directly with the government as a prime

contractor. Rather, it clearly states that ESP "agrees not to enter into any subcontract or

other...support arrangement for any effort in support of any other S3 large business prime

contract." Thus, it only prohibits ESP from subcontracting through other prime contractors in

the large business category under the S3 contract.

28. Aside from being limited on its face to a restriction on subcontracting, as CACI knows

well, this provision cannot be interpreted to restrict ESP's ability to deal directly with the

government as a prime contractor because such interpretation would directly violate the federal

procurement statute and regulations that specifically prohibit such restraint on competition.

The Parties' Performance Under the Subcontract

29. Since entering into the Subcontract with ESP, CACIhas not offered ESP a single funded

subcontract position on non-ESP sourced business opportunities for staffing under the S3

Contract, instead enlisting others to perform all work on successful bids and closing ESP out

completely. As a result, the only S3 contract work that ESP has performed under the CACI

Subcontract is work derived from those opportunities identified by ESP.
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30.CACI now serves as a prime contractor to ESP for four such Task Orders, for which

CACI earns project management fees and exacts revenue for contract administration.

ESP Becomes Prime Contractor Through USfalcon Assets

31. Another prime contractor that had previously been awarded the S3 Contract was

USfalcon, Inc.

32. On June 15, 2012, with the U.S. Army's consent, ESP succeeded to USfalcon's position

under the S3 Contract thereby becoming a prime contractor thereunder.

33. Upon becoming a prime contractor under the S3 Contract, ESP gained the ability to

competefor prime contractoropportunitiesunder the S3 Contract.

Mission Command Task Order

34. In 2011 and 2012, the U.S. Army began soliciting bids for Task Order S3R-0469 for

engineering, technical, logistical, and business support for Project Manager Mission Command

(the "MissionCommand Task Order"). The request for proposal ("RFP") was officially released

on November 16, 2012.

35. On and around November 27, 2012 ESP informed CACI that it intended to bid on the

Mission Command Task Order as a prime contractor, and that ESP wanted to discuss options

regarding the opportunity due to the parties' business relationship. CACI was receptive to

discussing options.

36. CACI and ESP discussed two options: (1) CACI bidding as a prime contractor with ESP

in a subcontractor role and (2) ESP bidding as a prime contractor and CACI as a Subcontractor.

37. Subsequent to their discussions, and in reference to other task orders, CACI disputed

ESP's ability to compete with CACI as a prime contractor under S3. This dispute resulted in

CACI issuing a 10-day notice to ESP under the Subcontract for violation of the exclusivity
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amendment to the Subcontract. Absent any cure, the Subcontract would be terminated for

default. During the pendency of this 10-day notice period, the parties entered into an agreement

providing that CACI would not terminate the Subcontract without providing ESP with aprior 10-

day notice. Acopy ofthis agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit E.

38. In March 2013, CACI and ESP had a series of communications in which CACI agreed

that it would no longer contest ESP serving as an S3 prime contractor, provided that on any

CACI incumbency work, ESP and CACI were to engage in discussions to determine how best to

work together.

39. Specifically, the parties agreed that where one ofthe parties isin an incumbency position,

one party should inform the other of the intent to participate on the team and/or intent to be a

prime contractor. Acopy ofthis agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit F. The parties agreed

that this would encourage mutual awareness ofthe options each were considering and their intent

to a teaming agreement. Id. If neither party was an incumbent, the parties agreed to strive for

teaming opportunities, but they both had the option to prime without consulting the other party.

Id.

40. As discussed, both ESP and CACI bid as prime contractors on the Mission Command

Task Order.

41. OnJune 27, 2013, the U.S. Army announced that ESP had won the competition and was

awarded the Mission Command Task Order. The U.S. Army required the project to start

immediately.

42. CACI filed a bid protest on July 16, 2013 with the Government Accountability Office

("GAO") regarding the award of the Mission Command Task Order to ESP ("Bid Protest").

10
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Improper Termination of Subcontract and Resulting "Job Fairs"

43. CACI terminated the Subcontract. Along with terminating the Subcontract, the following

S3 task orders were also terminated on July 18, 2013: S3 Delivery Order 77 - 021-06-S-0273-

0014; S3 Delivery Order 96 - 021-06-S-0273-0018; S3 Delivery Order 125 - 021-06-S-0273-

0021; S3 Delivery Order 135 - 021-06-S-0273-0020.1

44. CACI provided no ten-day notice regarding its improper termination of the Subcontract,

directly contravening the parties' March 1, 2013 agreement that a ten-day notice would be a

prerequisite before any termination actionwould be taken.

45. Knowing that ESP employees would have likely known that the Subcontract was

terminated, upon information and belief, CACI then planned to immediately solicit ESP's

employees under the guise of holding two job fairs starting the very next day, Friday, July 19,

2013, and lasting through Sunday, July 21, 2013. ("CACI Career Fairs"). A true and correct

copy of the advertisements for the CACI CareerFairs are attached heretoas Exhibit G.

46. The CACI Career Fairs were strategically timed events and mandated that each potential

candidate RSVP to a CACI recruiter at least one day prior to the career fairs, advertised that

CACI would be making "on-the-spot job offers," required a current secret clearance, and were

specifically aimed at recruiting professionals for job positions which support the Subcontract and

which were intended to support the Mission Command Task Order recently awarded to ESP.

47. These CACI Career Fairs had multiple purposes: (i) to prevent ESP from having the

resources and personnel to properly perform under the Mission Command Task Order should the

bid protest fail; (ii) to ensure that CACI has the resources and personnel required to perform

under the Mission Command Task Order should the bid protest succeed; and (iii) to prevent ESP

1CACI filed a Demand forArbitration on July 18,2013 regarding the instant dispute. However, according to
Section H. 17, only factual disputes shall be settled by arbitration. Ex. B. at p. 19.

11
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from having the resources and personnel to properly perform under the Subcontract if it was

found to be improperly terminated.

COUNT 1

BREACH OF CONTRACT

(Improper Termination of Subcontract)

48. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 47 are incorporated herein by

reference.

49. The Subcontract is a valid and enforceable contract existing between ESP and CACI.

50. ESP has fully performed all of its obligations under the Subcontract.

51. CACI breached the Subcontract by terminating the Subcontract on the sole basis that ESP

won a bid for a task order directly with the U.S. Army as a prime contractor without CACI's

consent.

52. By CACI terminating the Subcontract based on ESP winning a bid for a task order with

the U.S. Army as a prime contractor without CACI's consent, CACI directly violated 10 U.S.C.

§ 2402, et seq., which prohibits prime contractors from unreasonably restricting the ability of

subcontractors to deal directly with the government.

53. The termination of the Subcontract in direct violation of 10 U.S.C. § 2402 constitutes a

material breach of the agreement.

54. As a direct and proximate result of CACI's breach of contract, ESP has suffered damages

in an amount to be determined at trial, but in an amount greater than $75,000.

COUNT 2

BREACH OF CONTRACT

(Violation of Non-Solicitation Provision)

55. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 54 are incorporated herein by

reference.

12
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56. The Subcontract is a valid and enforceable contract existing between ESP and CACI.

57. ESP has fully performed all of its obligations underthe Subcontract.

58. Section G.9 of the Subcontract contains a clear non-solicitation provision. Specifically,

the parties agreed that "during the term of this Subcontract and one year thereafter neither party

will solicit for hire any employee of the other party who is assigned to work on the program

contemplated bythis subcontract without the prior written consent ofthe other party...." Ex. Bat

p. 13.

59.The non-solicitation provision, drafted solely by CACI, is narrowly tailored to protect

ESP's legitimate business interest, is not unduly burdensome on the employee's ability to earn a

living, and is not against public policy.

60. CACI has breached Section G.9 of the Subcontract by actively soliciting ESP employees

in violation of the provision.

61. Specifically, CACI has actively solicited ESP valuable employees due to their security

clearances, certifications, and experience levels by holding two strategically timed "career fairs"

in order to target ESP employees who had been working under the Subcontract and/or believed

that ESP's reputation was suffering due to the termination of the Subcontract, proper security

clearances, certifications, and experience levels.

62. These career fairs started the day after CACI terminated the Subcontract, July 19, 2013,

and continued through Sunday, July 21, 2013.

63. The CACI Career Fairs were not normal career fairs. They mandated that each potential

candidate RSVP to a CACI recruiter at least one day prior to the career fairs, advertised that it

would be making "on-the-spot job offers," aimed at filling 40 positions, required a current secret

clearance, and were specifically aimed at recruiting professionals for job opportunities

13
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supporting the U.S. Army at Fort Hood, the Army base where the work under the Subcontract

was performed, and at the Army's Aberdeen Proving Ground, where the Mission Command

Task Order awarded to ESP, just protested by CACI, is to be performed.

64. By holding these career fairs specifically aimed at ESP employees, CACI has breached

the non-solicitation provision of the Subcontract.

65. Soliciting ESP employees is a material breach of the Subcontract.

66. As a direct and proximate result of CACI's breach of contract, ESP has suffered damages

in an amount to be determined at trial, but in an amount greater than $75,000.

67. Further, as a direct and proximate result of CACI's breach of contract, ESP has suffered

irreparable harm through the loss of resources and personnel.

COUNT 3

BREACH OF CONTRACT

(Breach of Ten-Day Notice Agreement)

68. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 68 are incorporated herein by

reference.

69. The Subcontract is a valid and enforceable contract existing between ESP and CACI.

70. ESP has fully performed all of its obligations under the Subcontract.

71. CACI breached the Subcontract by terminating the Subcontract on July 18, 2013 without

providing a 10-day notice as provided for by the agreement.

72. CACI had no other legally or contractually supported basis to terminate the Subcontract.

73. The termination of the Subcontractwithouta legally or contractuallysupported basis, and

without providing the required 10-day notice, constitutes a material breach ofthe agreement.

74. As a direct and proximateresult of CACI's breach of contract, ESP has suffered damages

in an amount to be determined at trial, but in an amount greater than $75,000.

14
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COUNT 4

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACT

75. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 75 are incorporated herein by

reference.

76. Upon beginning employment at ESP, each employee must sign a Non-Competition/Non-

Solicitation Agreement.

77. Upon signing the Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement, each ESP employee

agrees not to perform duties as or for a competitor of ESP, defined as those: (i) "which are in the

industry or geographic regions in which Employee performed services for ESP in themost recent

two years of his/her ESP employment and are the same or substantially similar to the duties

performed by the Employee at ESP; or (ii) which involve the use of any Confidential

Information or Innovations (as defined in the Proprietary Rights and Confidentiality Agreement)

which the Employee has received, obtained, or acquired during, or as a consequence of, his/her

employment with ESP." Ex. C.

78. The Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement restricts the non-competition

provision to the Employee'semployment and one year thereafter. Id.

79. The Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreementis a valid and enforceable contract.

80. The Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement is narrowly tailored to protect ESP's

legitimate business interest, is not undulyburdensome on the employee's ability to earn a living,

and is not against public policy.

81. Through having its own non-solicitation provision in the Subcontract with ESP, CACI

had knowledge that ESP would have employees sign an agreement covering non-competition

and non-solicitation.

82. By holding the CACI Career Fairs intentionally aimed at soliciting ESP employees and

15
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extendingoffers to ESP employeesat the CACI Career Fairs, CACI intentionallyinterfered with

the Non-Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement between ESP and its employees.

83. Through this intentional interference, CACI caused the employees to breach their Non-

Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreements with ESP by working for a competitorwithin the time

frame prohibited by the Non-Competition/Non-SolicitationAgreements.

84. CACI employed improper methods to tortiously interfere with the Non-

Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreement including, but not limited to, soliciting ESP employees

within one day of termination, and in violation of the non-solicitation provision, Section G.9 of

the Subcontract. Other additional improper methods that CACI employed includeharming the

reputation of ESP with its employees and the U.S. government, duress due to termination of the

Subcontract, violating an established standard of trade by filing a Bid Protest in violation of

federal statutes prohibiting an unreasonable restraint of competition on government contracts, all

of which would cause the employees to feel as though they should begin to look for new

employment.

85. As a direct and proximate result of CACI's tortious interference with the Non-

Competition/Non-Solicitation Agreementbetween ESP and its employees, ESP has sufferedboth

damages to its reputation, personnel, and resources and monetary damages in an amount to be

determined at trial, but in an amount greater than $75,000.

COUNT 5

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS EXPECTANCY

86.The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 86 are incorporated herein by

reference.

87. ESP has a business expectancy through its signed contract with the U.S. Army: the

Mission Command Task Order.

16
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88. CACIhas knowledge of the Mission Command Task Order, which it has provenby filing

the Bid Protest with the GAO regarding the same.

89. CACI is intentionally interfering with the Mission Command Task Order through filing

the Bid Protest terminating the Subcontract, thereby harming ESP's reputation with the U.S.

Government and ESP's employees; and actively soliciting ESP's employees: (i) to prevent ESP

from having the qualified personnel required to perform under the Mission Command Task

Order should the Bid Protest fail, (ii) to ensure that CACI has the resources and personnel

required to perform under the Mission Command Task Order should the bid protest succeed, and

(iii) to prevent ESP from having the resources and personnel to properly perform under the

Subcontract if it was found to be improperly terminated.

90. CACI is using improper methods to interfere with ESP's business expectancy including,

but not limited to improperly filing the Bid Protest due to CACI's frustration that it did not win,

falsely claiming ESP used confidential and proprietary information in its bid; improperly

soliciting ESP's employees through the guise of career fairs; and improperly harming ESP's

reputation through terminating the Subcontract based on a position that is in violation of federal

law.

91. Through employing these improper methods, CACI has tortiously interfered with ESP's

business expectancy under the Mission Command Task Order as well as pertaining to future

government contracts.

92. Through CACI's tortious interference with ESP's business expectancy under the Mission

Command Task Order, ESP has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

WHEREFORE, ESP respectfully requests that judgment be entered in its favor and

against CACI:

17
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i. Enjoining and restraining CACI from terminating the March 2006 Subcontract for

the alleged defaultof competing as a prime contractor withoutCACI's consent;

ii. Enjoining andrestrainingCACIfrom improperly terminating the March 2006

Subcontractprior to the expiration of the cure period;

iii. Ordering that CACI immediately reinstate the March 2006 Subcontract;

iv. Enjoining and restraining CACI from soliciting andhiring ESP's employees in

violation of the March 2006 Subcontract;

v. Enjoining and restraining CACI from tortiously interferingwith the Mission

Command Task Order;

vi. Enjoining and restraining CACI from tortiously interfering with the Non-

Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement between ESP and its employees;

vii. Awarding ESPdamages, including consequential damages, incidental damages

and punitive damages;

viii. Awarding costsand reasonable attorneys' fees to the extentpermitted by law; and

ix. Granting suchother andfurther reliefas the Court may deem just andproper.
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Dated: July23, 2013 Respectfully submitted,

^HMu^
David G. Barger, Va. Bar No. 21652
Michael R. Sklaire, Va. Bar No. 74354
Richard Moorhouse, Va. Bar No. 49020
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP
1750 Tysons Blvd., Suite 1200
McLean, Virginia 22102
Telephone: (703) 749-1300
Facsimile: (703) 749-1301
bargerd@gtlaw.com
sklairem@gltaw.com
moorhouser@gtlaw.com
Counselfor Engineering Solutions & Products LLC
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VERIFICATION

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746,1 solemnly affirm under penalties ofperjury that thefactual

allegations set forth intheComplaint aretrue to the best of my knowledge, information, and

belief

Dated: July 22, 2013
Gary Lftrero,
Chief OperatingOfficer
Engineering Solutions & Products, LLC

TCO 360376898v1
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Ihereby certify that this 23rd day ofJuly, 2013, service ofthe foregoing document was

affected byfirst class mail, postage prepaid, on:

Douglas P. Lobel
David A. Vogel
COOLEY LLP

One Freedom Square
Reston Town Center

11951 Freedom Drive

Reston, VA 20190
Tel: (703) 456-8000
Fax:(703)456-8100
dlobel@coolev.com
dvogel@coolev.com

Counselfor CACI Technologies, Inc.

Michael R. Sklaire, Va. Bar No. 74354
GREENBERGTRAURIG, LLP
1750 Tysons Blvd.
Suite 1200
McLean, VA 22102
Tel: (703) 749-1300
Fax:(703)749-1301
sklairem@gtlaw.com

Counselfor Engineering Solutions &Products LLC
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